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Chapter One: Beginnings of Change 

 

 

Before Wichita was the city of Wichita, it was the name of a tribe of people who twice lived 

there, in a bountiful prairie between two rivers. 

The Wichita, like the Osage and other tribes on this central prairieðthe Waco, the 

Tawakoni, and Kechiðused to live in communities of grass lodges along the Arkansas River in 

the summers, when they could grow beans, corn, and squash. In colder weather they would 

follow the bison and other game across southern Kansas and into what is now Oklahoma and 

Texas. The Wichita left the area between the rivers the first time in the early 1700s because the 

Osage tribe drove them out. They fled south into what is now Oklahoma. 

Kansas became a United States territory in 1854, at a time when it was called ñBleeding 

Kansasò because pro- and anti-slavery groups fought, and sometimes killed, each other while 

politicians in Washington D.C. argued whether to organize territories into free or slave states. 

Kansas became the 43rd state on January 29, 1861, joining the Union with a constitution that 

banned slavery. The United States Civil War began weeks later as many southern states left, 

seceding from the country to preserve the longstanding practice of slaveholding. These states 

became known as the Confederate States, or the Confederacy. 
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During the Civil War the Wichita tribe, in Indian Territory, sided with the Union. To protect 

them from tribes who sided with the Confederacy, the Union asked a man named Jesse Chisholm 

to bring the Wichita tribe north from Indian Territory. Jesse Chisholm was a widely-traveled 

trader who sold goods to various tribes from Texas to Kansas. His mother was Cherokee and his 

father was European. He could not read or write, but he spoke fourteen tribal languages. 

Chisholm led the Wichita tribe along his trading route back to the land between the forks of the 

Little Arkansas and the Big Arkansas rivers, in the Osage Trust Lands of Kansas. 

The Osage Trust Lands stretched across the south central part of Kansas territory, including 

the Arkansas River valley. Settlement by white people from eastern states was against the law in 

the Trust Lands because many years earlier the U.S. government had agreed to preserve the land 

as a grazing range for bison and a hunting ground for the Osage and other tribes. 

Hunters and traders were the first white men to slip into the Osage Trust Lands. They knew 

they were breaking the law by being there, but also realized that if  they could sneak in, hunt, and 

leave quickly, they could make huge profits selling meat, furs, hides, and bones to stores in 

towns to the east, along the Missouri River. The hunting was good, and the white hunters, who 

were generally young men who had come to the prairie to make their fortunes, often ended up 

staying in the area and developing trading posts and freight wagon routes to conduct trade with 

tribes. 

When Jesse Chisholm led the Wichita back to the forks of the Arkansas River in 1863, the 

traders began to call the area Wichita Town. No one knows the exact meaning of the word 

Wichita, or how it was pronounced originally, but historians think it probably means ñscattered 

lodges.ò The United States government put the Wichita Indian Agency there and hired Jesse 

Chisholm, along with James R. Mead, William Matthewson, and William Griffenstein, to supply 

the Wichita people with food and equipment. These traders made lots of money this way. 
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The U.S. Civil War raged for four long years, with only a single battle being fought in 

Kansas. In the end, the broken country stayed together, and the states united with new laws 

abolishing slavery. 

At the end of the Civil War more settlers pushed west into lands the government had 

reserved for tribes. Jesse Chisholm and James Mead helped the government gather 3,000 people 

from the Wichita, Cheyenne, Comanche, Arapahoe, Kiowa, Cherokee, and Apache tribes to 

discuss the terms of what would be the Little Arkansas Treaty. At the conference, held near the 

Little Arkansas River north of Wichita Town, the Osage leader Black Kettle said, ñMy shame is 

as big as the earth, although I will do what my friends advise me to do,ò as he and other chiefs 

gave up their lands to the government. 

To oversee settlement activity, the U.S. army camped for about a year near the junction of 

the Big and Little Arkansas rivers, calling the encampment first Camp Davidson and then Camp 

Beecher, but by late 1869 the army was gone. 

Darius Munger came to Wichita about this time to find land deals for a group of Topeka 

businessmen. He stayed in Wichita and built a log house that was also the townôs hotel and post 

office. Munger also became Justice of the Peace, chosen to decide legal questions for the 

townspeople. Other businessmen built a sawmill, saloons, a hotel, general stores, and a ferry to 

cross the Arkansas river. Settlers rushed to construct St. Johnôs Episcopal, built with sticks and 

sod. By 1869 there were at least sixteen buildings in town. 

The Wichita tribe left the area for the second time around 1870, when Congress made the 

purchase of Osage Trust lands legal. The government moved the Wichita people, along with 

other tribes, to Indian Territory, now called Oklahoma. At the final Osage treaty conference in 

Kansas, ñthe air was filled with the cries of the old people, especially the women, who lamented 
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over the graves of their children, which they were about to leave forever by proceeding to a 

reservation.ò (Wichita Vidette) 

A painting showing Wichitaôs first town site, looking North 

down what is now Waco Street at the intersection of Murdock. 
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Vignette for Chapter One: James R. Mead 

 

 

James R. Mead had come to the Kansas territory as a young man from Davenport, Iowa, 

in 1859, before the Civil War. He was quick to see that there was money in hunting and trading, 

and he opened a trading post in the Smoky Hill area, where the Spanish explorer Coronado was 

said to have searched for the Lost Cities of Gold a few centuries earlier. The real gold though, for 

Mead, was south, in the hunting along the Arkansas River valley. Years later he would write, 

ñHere a vision of beauty and interest greeted our eyes, such perhaps as no other spot on the 

plains could furnish.ò 

Mead was among the hunters and traders who were the first non-native men to come to 

the Arkansas River valley. It was against the law for them to hunt in Indian territories, but the 

hunters slipped in and out. They shot bison, antelope, deer, elk, squirrels, beaver, otter, wolves, 

coyotes, foxes, skunks, porcupines, raccoons, turkeys, quail, prairie chickens, ducks, geese, and 

swans. On one hunting trip they got so much game that they ran out of bullets and had to cut 

used ones from dead bison. 

Mead and other hunters, among them his friend William Greiffenstein, sold meat, fur, 

hides, and bones to merchants along the Missouri River and to the tribes in the Kansas Territory. 

For several years Mead and his wife Agnes lived and ran a trading post in an area near what 

would become the town of Towanda. They established another trading post farther west near the 

Wichita Indian settlement at the forks of the Arkansas River. Mead and others, including William 

Griffenstein, made a deal with the governmentôs Wichita Indian agency to supply food and 

equipment to the Wichita tribe after they had been resettled from Indian Territory. Mead also 
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made agreements to ship goods along the wagon trails that crossed the plains. Because of these 

contracts and the government contracts he became a very wealthy man. 

Then Agnes died. Not long after, Mead moved to the Wichita area. He already had close ties 

there, and his trading post. Mead is believed to be the man who suggested the name, ñWichita,ò 

for the newly-forming town. In 1870 William Greiffenstein, using a piece of wrapping paper, had 

a map of the city drawn, showing among other things Meadôs claims near where the Arkansas 

and Little Arkansas rivers joined. Mead became one of the new townôs biggest boosters. 

At this time, most Texas cattle were herded up the Chisholm Trail, the trade route 

between Texas and Kansas named for Jesse Chisholm. The trail led cattle herds past Wichita to 

the trains at Abilene, Kansas, headed for slaughterhouses in Chicago and other eastern cities. 

Mead and other city leaders wanted to make Wichita, rather than Abilene, the shipping 

center for the money-making cattle trade. The city needed a railroad to become a shipping center, 

and the cityôs boosters used various ways, legal and otherwise, to get one. The Atchison, Topeka, 

and Santa Fe railroad reached Newton, thirty miles to the north, and James Mead had within 

three months made an agreement with the railroad to build a branch to Wichita and had 

organized the Wichita and Southwestern Railroad company. 

Meanwhile, William Greiffenstein and others built hotels, and by 1872, the year the first 

train passengers to Wichita arrived, Wichita had the hotels and stockyards needed to serve the 

men driving cattle up the Chisholm Trail from Texas. James Mead and others persuaded 

cowboys driving a Texas cattle herd to turn their cattle toward Wichita instead of Abilene, and 

Wichitaôs era as a Cowtown began. The Cowtown era lasted four years, although the only year 

that the cattle trade really made money for Wichita was 1872. That was the same year that James 

Mead built a brick mansion for himself on east Central in Wichita. 
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Chapter Two: A City is Born, 1870-1890 

 

 

The newly-forming community of Wichita won an election over the nearby town of Park 

City to become the county seat of the new Sedgwick County, named after Union Major General 

John A. Sedgwick, killed during the Civil War battle of Spotsylvania. 

Wichita incorporated as a city on July 21, 1870. More than 600 people called the area 

home by then. There were 124 signers of the petition to incorporate, including one of the areaôs 

earliest African American settlers, Richard Robinson, who lived in Wichita with his wife Sara 

and their two sons. There was one female signer, Catherine McCarty, who owned and ran the 

City Laundry. McCarty, who moved to New Mexico the following year, was the mother of Henry 

McCarty, who changed his name to Billy Bonney after his mother died and soon became known 

as the outlaw Billy the Kid. 

By November of 1870 the number of buildings in Wichita had grown to ten times that of 

the year before. There were now 175 structures, including three churches, two hardware stores, 

two drugstores, two saddlery and harness shops, two blacksmiths, one tannery, one jewelry store, 

two brick yards, three livery stables, six carpenter shops, one furniture store, one carriage and 

wagon shop, four real estate offices, two restaurants, three hotels, two saloons, two liquor stores, 

and a large number of law offices. 

The temporary stick and sod houses and dugouts of the town came down and wooden or 

brick buildings replaced them. The next year the city had grown to 400 buildings and 1,200 

citizens. Most of the people who moved to Wichita were from eastern states and were white 

Christians of European descent. There were also people of the Jewish faith among the founders 

of Wichita, and the Jewish population was an early part of city life socially and economically. 
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Many of Wichitaôs pioneer businessmen were Jewish. An 1874 Kansas law prohibited racial 

discrimination, but African Americansðwho numbered about 150 in Wichita in 1878 ðfound 

that jobs and places to live that were available to them were limited. The African American 

community was, however, well-organized and accepted on the surface. Chinese people found 

open hostility, which limited their numbers to a very few until many years later. Other than 

cowboys, few Hispanic people made their way to Wichita in the 1870s. 

Getting to and from Wichita was not easy until James R. Mead arranged for a railroad 

from a main line to come to Wichita. With this, Wichita became a shipping point for Texas cattle 

bound for eastern markets. The Chisholm Trail, a freight wagon route through Wichita and 

Indian Territory founded by Jesse Chisholm and others, stretched all the way to Texas by the end 

of the 1860s. Driving cattle along the trail to Kansas was cheaper than shipping them by railroad 

from Texas. The Chisholm Trail suddenly became the most famous cattle trail in American 

history. 

By 1872, Wichita had the railroad, hotels, and stockyards needed to take care of the Texas 

cattle drives. About 80,000 cattle were loaded into 4,000 railroad cars and sent east that year 

from Wichita, a big success for the city. The city made money from the cattle drives for the next 

four years. 

The trip from Texas to Wichita took between 100 and 125 days, with the cowboys on 

horseback herding the cattle at a walking pace so they didnôt lose weight on the trip, because the 

heavier the cow, the more money it sold for. Typically, a cowboy crew had ten to twelve men, 

two for every 300 head of cattle. 

One third of the cowboys who drove cattle up from Texas were either African-American 

or Mexican. Cowboy life offered African-American men more status and opportunity than other 

jobs open to them at the time. Often, the cook for the cowboy crew was an older African 

American man who had been promoted from cowboy. 
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A cowboy earned good wages, and at the end of a cattle drive was paid and could enjoy 

spending some of his money in Wichita. The Wichita police tried to keep the saloons, gambling 

places, and dance halls confined to Delano, an area west of town across the Arkansas River 

bridge on Douglas Avenue. Once Wichitaôs Cowtown days ended, most of those businesses 

closed, and many townspeople were glad to see cowboys and those who served them leave. 

One of the Wichita policemen would later become famous as a lawman in Dodge City, 

KS and Tombstone, AZ. Wyatt Earp served on the Wichita police force between 1874 and 1876. 

He generally used his words rather than his guns, and he became a good negotiator. As a 

policeman, he had to, among other things, repair wooden sidewalks, remove dead animals, and 

control wild dogs. By 1876, most of the cattle trade had moved to Dodge City, and Wyatt Earp 

left for Dodge City also. 

Eager to let the rest of the world know what was happening in the fast-growing city, 

several men jumped on the chance to start newspapers in the 1870s. The first newspaper, the 

Wichita Vidette lasted for six months, followed by the Wichita Tribune, which also didnôt last 

long. Then in 1872 two competing newspapers began printing, the Wichita City Eagle and the 

Wichita Beacon. Marshall Murdock, the colorful editor of the Wichita City Eagle, arrived in town  
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Top: Sedgwick County Court House 1889 

still here today but without its clock tower 

 

Bottom: Wichita City Hall 1890, today 

the Wichita-Sedgwick County Historical 

Museum 
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with the goal of putting the ñprairie city on the industrial map of the world.ò He edited the Eagle 

for thirty-six years, promoting the city he called, at one time or another, the ñNile of America,ò 

the ñDarling of Destiny,ò the ñPeerless Princess of the Plains,ò and the ñMagic City.ò The rival 

Wichita Beacon and its editors, D. G. Millison and Fred Sowers, a former editor of the Vidette, 

printed stories that benefitted farmers and ordinary people more than the business owners of 

Wichita, whom they said the Eagle promoted. 

Samuel Wilson Jones was only seven years old when he came to Wichita in 1874. He 

grew up to become the editor of two African American newspapers that gained national 

readership, the National Baptist World (1894) and the National Reflector (1897-98) Both papers 

argued for action against crimes such as lynching and encouraged education, religion, and 

business ownership as ways to improve the lives of African American people. Samuel Jones 

became the Sedgwick County constable, or peace officer, in 1894, the first African American 

elected to county office. 

Small factories arrived over the next twenty years in Wichitaða plow factory, boot and 

shoe factory, soap factory, wagon factory, wire nail mill,  sausage factory, spice millðand larger 

industries, such as a meat packing plant and a maker of railroad cars specially made to carry 

livestock. More people moved to town, drawn by the new jobs, and buildings went up in a 

frenzy. The town grew so much and so fast that people called it a ñboom town.ò 

But the excitement led people to overspend and overbuild and soon the fastest-growing 

city in the United States went from boom to bust. In Sedgwick county, crops failed and two hard 

winters wiped out cattle herds. Just as the county courthouse was finished and the city hall 

started, the city ran out of money. The city hall had to wait twenty-five years to install the clock 

that was supposed to go in the clock tower. Many people lost work and moved away. Some, like 

Albert Hyde, stayed, believing they could make the best of it.
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Vignette for Chapter Two -- A.A. Hyde 

 

 

Albert Hyde arrived in Kansas from Massachusetts at the close of the Civil  War, when he 

was only 17. He found work as a bank clerk in the fort town of Leavenworth. Hyde settled into 

banking in Leavenworth for several years, but in 1872, Hydeôs banker employers, hearing of the 

new city, sent him to Wichita to open a bank there. 

Wichitans were making money, and the city was growing rapidly. Victorian mansions and 

elaborate brick and stone business and government buildings began to give the frontier town a 

look of wealth and permanence. Hyde decided that buying land, rather than banking, would be 

the way to succeed in Wichita. Hydeôs new business, like Wichita, prospered during these boom 

years. 

But, also like Wichita, Hydeôs real estate deals failed during the bust of the late 1880s. 

 

Needing to support himself and his family, Hyde went into business with two men new to 

Wichita, his brother-in-law Clayton K. Smith, a pharmacist, and Walter R. Binkley, a soap maker. 

They formed the Yucca Company, which manufactured bath soap, shaving cream, and perfume 

made from yucca, a flowering plant also called soapweed that grows wild in Kansas. 

Soon the Yucca Company began making other things alsoðflypaper, silver polish, and 

medicine. It built an impressive three-story brick headquarters downtown. Less than a year later, 

Hyde bought out his partners. 

The Yucca Company turned its very successful cough medicine called the ñVest Pocket 

Cough Specificò into a menthol-and-petroleum-based ointment called ñMentholatumò that 
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became famous. Hyde renamed the Yucca Company the Mentholatum Company, which became 

known throughout the world for the salve. Mentholatum was advertised as ñThe Little Nurse for 

Little Ills.ò One way Hyde made sure people everywhere learned about it was to give jars of 

Mentholatum to church missionaries who travelled around the globe. 

Hyde built an eye-catching new headquarters building for the Mentholatum Company in 

1909. The company succeeded and the family grew wealthy. Hyde gave away a lot of his money 

to charities in Wichita. He donated land for buildings and a city park, and donated money for 

groups such as the Water Street YMCA and the American Indian Institute. He cared deeply for 

those who suffered. 

The Mentholatum Company added a plant in Buffalo, New York and moved its 

headquarters to Buffalo. A. A. Hyde died in 1935 and two years later the Mentholatum Company 

closed its Wichita office. 
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Chapter Three: Becoming a Modern City, 1890-1920 

 

 

The bust and the downturn in Wichitaôs fortunes put a stop to the free-wheeling pursuit of 

money-making typical of the 1870s and 1880s. Having learned from failure, the city became 

more practical and community-oriented. 

The hard times inspired some businessmen. Electric power was recently introduced but not 

yet used in homes. People used candles and oil lamps for lighting. William Coffin Coleman 

invented a gasoline table lamp for home use. He saw the chance to grow his company, the 

Hydro-Carbon Light Company, by moving it to Wichita and renaming it the Coleman Company, 

which later became famous for camping gear and outdoor recreational products. A baker from 

Indiana, Nicholas Steffen, moved to Wichita during the boom years, opened successful bakeries 

and restaurants, and improved the way to ship ice cream, becoming president and co-owner of 

the Steffen-Bretch Ice and Ice Cream Company, later known as Steffenôs. Automobiles had 

begun to appear on Wichitaôs streets, and a man named Woody Hockaday started an auto supply 

company that went on to serve gas stations nationwide on the highway system he envisioned. 

By 1900 farming conditions were good in Sedgwick County. Farmers could drive their cattle 

to Wichita to sell, and the cattle could be slaughtered and made into beef in the meatpacking 

plants. Wheat could be sold and ground into flour at grain mills. Beef and flour production 

became important businesses in Wichita. The city called itself the broomcorn capital of the 

Southwest, boasting five factories that turned crops of broomcorn into brooms used in every 

home. Small businesses such as tailors, hat shops, candy shops, and shoe repair shops helped the 

city to thrive. 
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Many businessmen volunteered their efforts to improve the city and the welfare of their 

employees. James A. Mead and Albert Hyde, for example, generously gave land and money to 

the community for schools, parks, and churches. 

Remembering the bust of the 1890s, people across the country felt that political and social 

systems helped the wealthy at the expense of everyone else, especially farmers and poor people 

in the cities. Interest grew in ways to improve life for everyone. People in Wichita and 

throughout Kansas worked for the fair treatment of farmers and workers, womenôs right to vote, 

limits on alcohol sales, and the welfare of women, children, and the poor. 

The group that came to be called Populists wanted, among other things, fairer railroad 

shipping costs for farmers in exchange for the crops they grew. Populists also wanted to give 

more people a chance to vote in elections. Speakers would travel around Kansas and around 

the country lecturing to gatherings of folks about the populist ideas. One of their popular 

lecturers was a Wichita woman, Mary Elizabeth Lease, who helped found a group called the 

Hypatia Club, ñwhose object shall be educational, social, and political.ò Its members were 

women who wanted change. They included doctors, lawyers, and ñsuffragettes,ò or women 

who worked for the right to vote, also called suffrage. Mrs. Lease became the clubôs first 

president. 

Partly because of its rowdy cowboy history, Kansas had outlawed alcoholic drink sales 

and saloons through an Prohibition Laws. The United States didnôt enact Prohibition in the 

entire country until years later, so alcohol was still fairly easy to come by. The Kansas law was 

unpopular with some for lack of good drinking water, especially when water from private 

wells dug near outdoor toilets continued to carry the risk of disease. A private company built  

waterworks for the city in 1883, bringing in better water from the Arkansas river to a tower 

through wooden pipes, still Wichita ignored the ban on alcohol and the saloons stayed in 

business. 
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But many people wanted temperance; that is, they wanted alcohol completely gone from 

their cities. These groups also protested illegal activities they said were associated with alcohol 

and saloons. A group called the Womenôs Christian Temperance Union organized to fight the 

problems created by alcohol. One of this groupôs popular lecturers was Carry A. Nation who, 

with her all-female group of ñHome Defendersò worked not only to close bars and saloons but 

worked for womenôs rights as well. 

Others in the city organized to help the needy. The Sedgwick Home was one of the early 

places formed to aid people who were homeless or in need of work. The Wichita Childrenôs 

Home, the African Orphanôs Home, and the Christian Service League provided help and places 

to live for orphans and children who had no one to take care of them. The Christian Service 

League later combined with a Topeka group to form the Kansas Childrenôs Service League. 

Although public schools were available to children very early in Wichitaôs history, the 

townspeople knew the city needed more opportunities to educate everyone. Fairmont Female 

College, which later became Wichita State University, was founded in the late 1880s as a 

secondary school for girls and young women. The bust hurt enrollment, but the school 

reorganized as Fairmont Institute and then Fairmont College. It graduated its first students in 

1899. Across town, Garfield University lasted only five years. It reopened in 1898 as Friends 

University. 

Libraries in town charged fees and limited who could use them. They also moved from 

place to place around town in the 1870s and 1880s. The new city hall finally offered a public 

library which, in 1900, became free to its users. Wichita benefitted from steel millionaire 

Andrew Carnegieôs generosity by becoming one of more than a thousand cities across the 
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country that received money he donated for libraries, and in 1915 a beautiful new Carnegie 

Library opened next door to the City Building on South Main. 

The industrial revolution meant many Americans moved from the country to the cities to 

work in the last decades of the 1800s, and those in the middle class had more leisure time. 

Bicycling, canoeing, and team sports became popular. In Wichita, bicycling and canoe clubs 

sprang up. The Murdock Avenue Boathouse was built in the late 1890s by the Israel family and 

continued to evolve on the Arkansas River for the next sixty years. Bathing beaches, where 

people would gather to swim, lined the banks of the river at different spots. The Riverside Park 

system was created in 1897, and a zoo added to the park in 1900. The city built a baseball 

stadium in 1905 on the county fairgrounds and moved the stadium downtown to Island Park on 

Ackerman Island, a large island in the middle of the Arkansas River, seven years later. 

Wonderland Park amusement park also opened on Ackerman Island in 1906. 

The town was growing again. Streetcar lines reached into new suburbs. The Arkansas 

Valley Interurban railroad connected Wichita to towns in the north and west parts of the county 

and as far as Hutchinson. 

There were more jobs and new demand for skilled tradesmen and manual labor. 

 

Immigrants from Lebanon began to arrive around 1895 and opened groceries, dry goods, and 

other retail stores. Many began as traveling peddlers, selling goods to farmers and in small 

towns across Kansas and Oklahoma, with Wichita as their supply center. 

The African American population grew to nearly 1,500 by 1900. John Van Leu, a 

realtor and religious leader who was African American, was one of the largest landowners in 

the county at the end of the nineteenth century. For many years an African American business 

district thrived between Main and the river, north of Central. This district catered to the 

African American community with hotels, attorneys, doctors, restaurants, grocers, hairdressers  
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The Wichita Boat House on the Arkansas River 
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and barbers, a dentist, an electrician, and a druggist. In the greater city community, people of 

color struggled to find work other than low-wage support jobs such as maids, elevator 

operators, cooks, and stable hands. State law at the turn of the century outlawed segregated 

schools, but in 1906 the Wichita school board divided Park School into separate wings and 

segregated the playground. By 1912, segregated schools were Wichitaôs policy. 

People from Mexico began immigrating to Wichita around 1900 to work for the 

railroads and packing houses. The railroads promised the new workers housing, but when they 

arrived, they found only a colony of converted railroad cars and trackside shacks that came to 

be known as ñMexican Village,ò between Orme and St. Francis near Kellogg. Other Mexican 

immigrants lived near the local packing plants, between Broadway and Waco from 21st to 25th 

streets. 

The cityôs first skyscraper, the ten-story Beacon Building, was built in 1910 on Main 

Street. Streets were lined with new electric lights. Frank Lloyd Wright, Americaôs most 

celebrated architect, built one of the last of his Prairie-Style houses in Wichita, the Henry J. 

Allen home on North Roosevelt, in 1917. Mr. Wright also designed all the furniture for the 

home. 

To showcase the growing city, and to make Wichita ñthe Convention City of the 

Southwest,ò city boosters organized the construction of the Forum, an up-to-date public 

auditorium and exposition hall. It was built in 1911 at South Water and English streets, on an  

 acre that had been William Griffensteinôs homestead. The arena was ninth-largest in the 

country, seating 5,500 people. There was a banquet hall upstairs and a farmersô market next 

door. A performance hall, the Arcadia Theater, was added a few years later. The Forum  
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20th century ñSkyscrapersò begin to replace 19th century buildings. 
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complex, over the next few decades, hosted the notable people of the day, including Eleanor 

Roosevelt, Will Rogers, John Philip Sousa, and Elvis Presley, as well as graduation exercises, 

plays, concerts, trade shows, the Kansas National Livestock Show, the International Wheat 

Show, and the Wichita Public Museum, later known as the Wichita-Sedgwick County 

Historical Museum.  

At the first air show in 1911 people gathered at Walnut Grove, a recreational area north 

of Wichita, to see the miracle of flight demonstrated pioneering aviators flying Curtis 

Aeroplanes. The event excited everyone to consider the possibility of this new technology. 

  

A new style of restaurant, developed in Wichita at the beginning of the twentieth century, led 

to Americaôs enduring love of hamburgers. In 1916 Walt Anderson opened a hamburger stand 

in a former streetcar in downtown Wichita. Many Americans at the time thought of hamburger 

as unsanitary and unsafe, but Waltôs food was so popular that he added two more stands. He 

then teamed up with Billy  Ingram to open a small hamburger shop on North Main that would 

change American ideas about hamburger. The name, White Castle, signaled strength and 

reliability. The building had to be sparkling clean, white, with a porcelain and stainless steel 

interior. Fresh beef was ground right in front of customers by well-groomed employees in 

spotless white uniforms. Anderson also standardized his ground beef into square small patties 

all the same size, and made his hamburgers in assembly-line fashion so that each hamburger 

was the same. White Castle was a big success, and quickly expanded beyond Wichita, 

becoming the first hamburger chain in the world.   
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Vignette for Chapter Three: Carry A. Nation 

 

 

On the day after Christmas, December 26, 1900, Mrs. Nation, from Medicine Lodge, 

Kansas, arrived in Wichita. She had worked for six years to close bars and saloons with her 

ñHome Defendersò in the name of the Womenôs Christian Temperance Union. This night, on the 

eve of action, she found fourteen drinking establishments within walking distance. She decided 

to target the Carey House annex bar on Douglas Avenue. 

The bars and saloons werenôt supposed to be there. Kansas was the first state in the union 

to constitutionally outlaw the making or selling of liquor, in 1881, nineteen years before Mrs. 

Nation arrived in Wichita and thirty-eight years before the US constitutionôs amendment 

prohibiting alcohol. But the early prohibition in Kansas was rarely enforced. 

Mrs. Nation blamed her first husbandôs death on alcohol. She wrote, ñ I had lost all the 

hopes of my young life through drink . . .ò 

On the morning of December 27 she attacked. She threw rocks and billiard balls at the 

bar, a painting, and a mirror. She struck the glassware with an iron rod, yelling, ñGlory to God! 

Peace on earth, good will to men!ò The police were called, but at six feet tall and 185 pounds, 

Mrs. Nation was not easy to stop. Finally, she was arrested, but the police soon released her and 

sent her back to Medicine Lodge. 

Carry Nation returned to Wichita on January 21. This time she struck two more saloons, 

carrying a hatchet. Two Wichita women attacked with her, one with a wrench and the other with 

a cane. Their actions, though dramatic, didnôt close the saloons permanently or affect the 

availability of liquor in the city. 
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Mrs. Nation was arrested thirty times before she stopped attacking saloons with her 

hatchet and returned to writing and lecturing, crusading for temperance, womenôs rights and 

womenôs suffrage. She sold hatchet pins to fund her crusades. 

Carry Nation died in June 1911 at age 65. One year later Kansas women won the right to 

vote. Nine years later Prohibition was the law in the US. 
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Chapter Four: Taking Our Place in the World, 1920-1930 

 

 

The nationôs transition from horses and wagons to automobiles changed how Wichita 

looked by 1920. Brick-paved streets replaced dirt. Auto dealerships, repair shops, and car parts 

stores outnumbered wagon shops and saddleries. Tiny brick buildings with pointed roofs 

popped up all over the city, selling gasoline from outdoor pumps. The Jones Motor Car 

Company manufactured Jones Six autos, turning out thousands of cars and trucks in the 

former railroad stock car plant until a fire in 1920 closed the factory. 

By 1920 servicemen had returned from World War I, then known as ñthe Great War.ò 

Wichita soldiers who died in the war were remembered with monuments erected throughout 

the city. The volunteer groups run by the Red Cross, YMCA, and other civic organizations had 

stopped the bandage rolling, sock knitting, and other supportive efforts they made during the 

war, and the Victory Arch, a temporary structure built over Douglas Avenue to welcome the 

troops home at the warôs end, was torn down and never replaced. 

After the war, people returned to flying airplanes for sport, recreation, and 

entertainment ï a lighthearted turn from their use in the war. After air shows had popularized 

the once-only-dreamed-of flying machines, it seemed the whole country wanted to figure out 

how to fly. The open prairie that spread for miles around Wichita, combined with the mostly-

good weather and wind, made the city an inviting place to try. 

Wichitaôs Chamber of Commerce wanted to draw the new aircraft industry to the wide 

spaces around Wichita. The city created a public airstrip out of an alfalfa field and small planes 

began delivering airmail.  

Throughout the 1920s, the city hosted airshows, tours, and races that boosted interest in 

flying and displayed the speed, safety, and reliability of the new machines. 
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The Jones Automobile factory 
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The city also attracted talented aircraft designers. Walter Beech, Lloyd Stearman, and 

Clyde Cessna, of Wichitaôs Travel Air aircraft company, flew Travel Air planes in a 2-day 

race called ñOn to Wichita,ò from Dayton, Ohio to Wichita in 1924. Beech, Stearman, and 

Cessna went on to form their own nationally-successful aircraft companies. The most 

celebrated airman of the time, Charles Lindbergh, on a national tour after his solo flight across 

the Atlantic in 1927, stopped in Wichita and posed for photos in a Swallow airplane made in 

Wichita. 

Mrs. H. D. Hurst of Newton became the first female graduate of a Wichita flying 

school. A group of women who worked in the industry, as well as wives, sisters, and mothers 

of aviation executives, formed the Womenôs Aeronautical Association of Wichita. Olive Ann 

Beech, who co-founded Beech Aircraft Corporation, encouraged female pilots in air racing. 

Louise McPhetridge von Thaden learned to fly in Wichita and set a womenôs altitude record 

flying a Wichita-made Travel Air plane. Von Thaden went on to win two more prestigious 

national air races flying Wichita-made planes. In the days before jetliners, these small aircraft 

promised big business for Wichita. 



 

30 

 

 

  

Wichitaôs first Air Show at Walnut Grove recreation area 1911 
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Vignette for Chapter Four: Early Flyers Cessna, Stearman, and Beech 

 

 

Clyde Cessna, a local farmer, mechanic, automobile dealer, and barnstorming pilot, built 

the first airplane made entirely in Wichita, the Comet, in 1917. He wasnôt the only one gripped 

by airplane fever. Local investors banded together to create the Laird Airplane Co., later renamed 

the Swallow Airplane Co. This company had the good fortune to bring together engineers Lloyd 

Stearman and Walter Beech. In 1924, Beech and Stearman left Swallow and teamed up with 

Cessna and businessman Walter Innes to create the Travel Air Manufacturing Co. in Wichita. 

Travel Air  designed its own race-winning planes, including one that won The Dole Trans-Pacific 

Race to Hawaii, and one that won the National Air Races in Cleveland. 

By 1929, however, the three plane designer/pilots had moved on. 

 

Lloyd Stearman left Travel Air  first, headed to California. But he returned to Wichita to 

build biplanes, forming the Stearman Company. He and his partners soon sold their company to 

United Aircraft and Transport Co., which already owned the Boeing Airplane Co. of Seattle. 

Stearman left the United-owned Stearman Company in 1930, tired of corporate politics. 

The Stearman Company became a division of the Boeing Airplane Co. a few years later, after the 

US military had purchased a Boeing biplane based on Stearmanôs designs. The military ordered 

the plane for long-term production, helping establish Wichita as Boeingôs military aircraft 

headquarters for the rest of the century. 

Clyde Cessna left Travel Air  and formed his own company. He found success designing, 

building, and selling planes with a reputation for speed, efficiency, quality, and advanced 

technology. But the Cessna Aircraft Company was forced to close as the Great Depression 
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worsened. In 1934 Cessnaôs nephews, Dwane and Dwight Wallace, revived the company, 

focusing on dependable business airplanes and, during World War II, the Bobcat military aircraft. 

Walter Beech sold the Travel Air  company to a St. Louis firm and became an executive in its 

St. Louis headquarters. In 1932 Walter and Olive Ann Beech returned to Wichita to establish the 

Beech Aircraft Company. Its Model 18 twin-engine monoplane became the backbone of the 

company and a modified version was sold to the US Army and Navy. 

Wichitaôs location worked to its advantage. As authoritarian governments grew in Europe, 

the US military increased aircraft production in the 1930s. Besides having good weather and 

miles of open prairie, Wichitaôs mid-continent position made it less vulnerable to enemy attack. 

All three airplane companies survived the Great Depression. 
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Chapter Five: The Dust Bowl and the Great Depression, 1930-1940 

 

 

 

 

 

In the 1930s Kansans suffered through two long-running disasters at the same time: the Dust 

Bowl and the Great Depression. 

The Dust Bowl was a years-long period of drought on the central plains of the United 

States. Too much ground had been plowed up for crops, and too many cattle had been allowed to 

graze grass until pastures were bare. When the rains stopped, dry soil throughout the middle of 

the country didnôt stay on the land but was picked up by strong, hot winds and blown away. Dust 

storms would turn the sky black. Without the rain and the soil, crops didnôt grow, and farmers 

lost money. Many farmers had to give up farming when they couldnôt pay bills or repay loans. 

Sedgwick County was hit by dust storms and drought, although not as badly as the western part 

of Kansas. Many Wichita companies sold their products to farmers, and those businesses 

suffered through the drought years. 

The decade-long Great Depression was caused by a collapse in the national stock 

market, often called a ñcrash,ò on October 24, 1929. It was a time very similar to the ñbustò 

experienced 40 years earlier. Too many people had bought too many shares of stock from 

companies on credit, enough that stock buyers lost money, banks lost money, businesses lost 

money, and soon companies throughout the nation closed. Although Wichitaôs economy did 

better than some, many local enterprises went out of business. Beech Aircraft, Boeing, and 

Cessna lasted through the Great Depression because of money the government spent on military 

aircraft, but twenty-nine other aviation companies in Wichita did not survive it. 
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With the Dust Bowl and the Great Depression happening at the same time, suffering was 

widespread. Throughout the country, one out of every four people lost a job and could not find 

other work for long periods of time. Most families at that time counted on one person to provide 

the income, and so the entire family felt the loss of work. 

To offer paying jobs that would relieve unemployment, homelessness, and hunger caused 

by the countryôs years of hard times, the federal government created the Works Progress 

Administration in 1935, as part of the governmentôs New Deal program. 

The WPA put millions of people to work all over the country doing all sorts of jobs, from 

building bridges and roads to painting murals and collecting stories. In Wichita, the WPA gave 

money for the construction of an airport and an art museum, money to expand the zoo in Central 

Riverside Park, money to build Lawrence Baseball Stadium on the west bank of the Arkansas 

River downtown and remove Ackerman Island in the middle of the river, and money to build 

several schools. It gave money to craftsmen to decorate these buildings with mosaics and murals 

in the up-to-date Art Deco style. Visual artists such as painters also received money to produce 

public art. Craftsmen were hired to create educational materials. In a time before computers and 

television, visual education included hands-on models, dioramas, and doll-like figurines that 

illustrated stories and ideas. Sedgwick County hired sixty-three people, mostly women, to create 

sets of dolls representing American History and people of the world. 

Besides helping Americans remember their shared story during these hard times, the arts 

provided some relief from day-to-day struggles. After the fall of the Hawaiian kingdom but 

before Hawaii was an American state, Hawaiian music became very popular with the American 

public. Hawaiian musicians toured the country. Wichita became the home of several Hawaiian 

music studios. One serious guitarist, Gage Brewer from Oklahoma, studied Hawaiian music with 
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some of the best players. He organized an orchestra in Wichita that played Hawaiian music on 

local radio stations and at dances around town. And in 1932 at the Shadowland dance club in 

Wichita, with rock and roll music still decades in the future, he introduced the electric guitar to 

the world, featuring the sound that would change music forever. 

 

Wonderland Amusement Park on Ackerman Island 
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Vignette for Chapter 5: 

The WPA and Ackerman Island Removal 

 

 

 

An island big enough to hold an amusement park once existed in the middle of the 

Arkansas River, downtown, in the middle of Wichita. Ackerman Island started forming in the 

river not long after the city of Wichita was founded. As farmers in western Kansas drained more 

and more of the Arkansas for growing their crops, the island grew and grew near where the Little 

Arkansas joined the main river. 

It grew big enough to support Wonderland, an amusement park which covered thirty-four 

acres of the island. For eleven years Wonderland offered fun in the form of a rollercoaster, a 

Ferris wheel, a merry-go-round, a bandstand, a place to dance, and a theater. 

Ackerman Island was also big enough to hold a sports field, Island Park Stadium, where 

crowds used to cheer the home-town heroes of semi-pro baseball and college football. But by 

1935, with Wichita and the rest of the country in the middle of the Great Depression, Ackerman 

Island was a place of empty buildings. 

Because of the Depression, businesses lost money and closed, and people lost jobs. The 

federal governmentôs Works Progress Administration paid for projects all over the country that 

would give people jobs and a paycheck. In Wichita, among other projects, the WPA funded the 

removal of Ackerman Island. 

Imagine removing an island by hand. Hundreds of men, each needing a job and glad for 

an income, shoveled dirt from the entire eastern shore of Ackerman Island. Because they were in 
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the middle of the Dust Bowl, a decades-long drought in Kansas and the western U.S., the dirt 

would have been hard and dry. 

They strained to push dirt-laden wheelbarrows across the island, past the remains of 

buildings where Wonderland had been, a place that, when the men were young, would ring out 

with shrieks of laughter. They pushed past the silent grounds of Island Park to the western side of 

the island, dumping the dirt on the far shore to fill in the channel between the island and the 

riverbank. Just downriver on the western bank, the men could see the new Lawrence baseball 

stadium built a year earlier, also by the WPA. 

After many long months, the hard-working men had dug away the entire eastern side of 

the island and connected the western side to the riverbank. Their work changed the course of the 

Arkansas river and erased the island. Places that had once brimmed with fun and optimism were 

now gone without a trace. 
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Painting showing WPA workers moving Ackerman Island 
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Chapter Six: War Years, 1940-1950 

 

 

The Dust Bowl finally ended when rain returned to the plains in 1939. Sedgwick County 

farmers, like farmers throughout the land, changed the way they plowed their fields. They 

planted trees in straight lines around their crops to act as windbreaks, hoping to hold the soil and 

never let the dark dirt clouds build up again. 

The Great Depression officially  ended in 1939 as well. Soon the federal government began 

buying military equipment in response to the growing war in Europe that became known as 

World War II. 

Even before Congress declared war on Germany and Japan at the end of 1941, the 

government hired Beech, Boeing, and Cessna to build military airplanes. After the start of the 

war, the demand for military aircraft grew. Wichita aircraft companies produced transport planes, 

trainers, gliders, photographic planes, and biplanes. Among the aircraft Boeing Wichita turned 

out were the B-17 and B-29 bombers that would contribute to winning World War II. 

The three plants expanded and the need for workers exploded. The companies recruited help 

from all over the country. Wichitaôs population more than doubled and became more diverse 

during the early 1940s. 

All of the new people needed someplace to live, and Wichita didnôt have any place to put 

them. Many Wichita families, glad for the chance of extra income, made small apartments out of 

their spare rooms or garages to rent to incoming aircraft workers, but there was still a great need 

for housing. The Federal Housing Administration provided home loans for workers and the 

government built a 400-unit housing project called ñHilltop Manorò near Harry and Oliver. It 
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The Planeview neighborhood seen from above 
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filled up in three months. The government then built 600 temporary houses for defense workers 

just west of the project, and added a school in the fall. Another federal, segregated housing 

development, called ñPlaneview,ò was one of the largest defense housing projects in the US. 

Located on the southeast edge of Wichita, it housed more than 19,000 aircraft workers and their 

families and included schools ï which were not segregated ï and churches. The final government 

wartime housing project, ñBeechwoodò, near the Beechcraft plant, extended Planeview by 400 

buildings. 

Altogether, the city added more than 30,000 housing units in just a few years to take care of 

all the people who arrived to work in the aircraft industry. Wichitaôs population grew to 176,316. 

Aircraft builders worked around the clock to meet the needs of wartime. As a result, businesses 

stayed open late or sometimes all night to serve shift workers. Traffic snarled on city streets. 

Buses were overcrowded. People flooded the streets of downtown Wichita, drawn to shops, 

cafes, restaurants, and theaters. 

When World War II  ended in 1945, the aircraft companies laid off thousands of wartime 

workers. Wichita lost more than 20,000 residents. 

The airplane companies began retooling their plants to make commercial aircraft. They also 

tried new uses for the technology they had developed for military aircraft. Beech tried making 

parts for dishwashers, nozzles for hair dryers, corn harvesters, and even a hybrid car, the 1946 

Beechcraft Plainsman gas and electric automobile. The car had six seats, an all-aluminum body, 

all-wheel drive, and an electric motor over each wheel, with the type of engine Beech normally 

used in its aircraft. But the car turned out to be too expensive to produce. Only two of the 

automobiles were ever made. 



 

42 

 

The dip in Wichitaôs population and economy didnôt last long. After World War II, the 

government rearmed the military during the Cold War and the Korean Conflict. All  three Wichita 

airplane plants got orders for new military planes. Boeing became the countryôs largest defense 

contractor. The population of Wichita grew larger than before, and most parts of its economy 

boomed. 

In 1950 the government built a training center for B-47 bomber crews called the Wichita Air 

Force Base, near the airport and not far from the Boeing Military plant. Three years later, the 

base became permanent. It was renamed McConnell Air Force Base in honor of three Wichita 

brothers, Fred, Thomas, and Edwin McConnell, all pilots who served during World War II, two 

of whom died during the war. The base took over the old airport, and the federal government 

built a new commercial airport in southwest Wichita. 
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Boeing airplane factory at war time 
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Vignette for Chapter Six: Wichita Women and War-time Production 

 

 

In Wichita, Boeing, Cessna, and Beech all had big military contracts to build aircraft. The 

Coleman Company had military orders for ammunition and aviation parts, as well as GI ñpocket 

stoves.ò 

Companies in Wichita looked all over the country for workers. Because there were not 

enough men to both serve in the military during World War II  and meet the need for workers in 

defense factories, women stepped in to fill the jobs left open. 

Even though Olive Ann Beech played a major role in running Beech Aircraft, Wichita 

women had not had much of a role in airplane building before this time. Now, because of the 

wartime need for workers, they became skilled mechanics, electricians, and ordnance workers. 

The National Defense Training School taught twenty-four women how to build airplanes. 

 

When the women graduated, they started jobs at Cessna. Training programs at high schools 

taught women skills such as riveting, a technique to fasten pieces of metal together. These skills 

were in demand at the aircraft plants. At one point, more than 80 percent of the riveters at Beech 

were women. Beechôs entire workforce during the war was 40 percent female, and more than 

half of the workers at Boeing were women. 

Madelyn Payne from Augusta, Kansas married Stanley Dunham from El Dorado in 1940. 

 

During World War II, while Stanley served in the military overseas, Madelyn worked the night 

shift on the B-29 assembly line at Boeing Wichita and took care of their daughter, Stanley Ann. 
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After the war, the family moved to Honolulu. Stanley Ann grew up to become the mother of the 

44th president of the United States, Barack Obama. 

The local women who worked in the Wichita defense plants during World War II were 

drawn to the work by their patriotism, their sense of adventure, and the need to make a living, as 

well as the equal pay for equal work. 

Aircraft workers during war time. 
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Chapter Seven: A New Time for Wichita and the World, 1950-1970 

 

 

 

After World War II, as the aircraft companies continued to hire women and men from 

many different ethnic backgrounds, Wichitaôs population grew and changed. Many aircraft 

workers of color stayed on in Wichita after the warôs end, and many more workers of color 

moved to Wichita as the Korean War and the Cold War created more need for aircraft. 

More workers meant more demands for housing. The wartime aircraft workersô houses at 

Beechwood, Planeview, and Hilltop Manor were always meant to be temporary. Though some 

remained, many were torn down after the war. A new area called Oaklawn, built in the 1950s 

southwest of the Boeing plant, offered more than a thousand houses for the new influx of aircraft 

workers. 

In the decades before the war, the city of Eastborough and neighborhoods such as Crown 

Heights had grown east of downtown Wichita. After World War II, affordable home loans meant 

more Americans could buy homes, and suburbs with names such as Indian Hills, Benjamin Hills, 

and Westlink spread west of the Arkansas. 

Shopping areas supported these suburban areas. The first shopping center in Wichita was 

Lincoln Heights Village, at the corner of Douglas and Oliver. It opened in 1949 with fourteen 

stores grouped around a central parking lot. 

The cityôs spread brought some problems to light. Floods in Wichita from the two 

Arkansas rivers and several area creeks happened regularly over the years, filling streets and 

basements with water and threatening homes, schools, and businesses. People would fill and 

stack sandbags through the night when floods threatened,. The flooding problem increased as the 

city pushed outward on the prairie. Flood control projects had been talked about since the 1920s, 
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  but after the war the city acted, partnering with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers to build the 

Wichita-Valley Center Flood Control Project, known as the Big Ditch. A young engineer named 

M.S. ñMitchò Mitchell directed the project, which channeled water from the two rivers and 

Chisholm Creek around Wichita. It took nine years and millions of dollars for the project to be 

finished. Sixty years later, the US Congress renamed the Big Ditch the ñM.S. óMitchô Mitchell 

Floodwayò in honor of the man who prevented years of Arkansas River floods. 

More people in the city meant a need for more drinking water. Water in the Arkansas 

River in the 1950s became too polluted to drink, so the city and county built Cheney Dam and 

Reservoir on the North Fork of the Ninnescah River. Cheney Lake, completed in 1965, also 

became a place for camping and water sports. 

World War IIôs end brought long-standing problems in America to the forefront, such as 

long-term inequality in education, employment, and housing. Wichita people felt the problems 

of being separated and living apart. 

Segregated schools had been the policy in Wichita since 1912. As the African American 

population in Wichita grew during and after World War II  and the areas where African American 

people lived expanded, the city redrew school district lines to keep schools segregated. 

The U.S. Supreme Courtôs 1954 ruling against segregation in education in Brown v. 

Topeka Board of Education didnôt influence Wichita schools until 1971, when the school district 

became racially integrated. To side-step integrated schools, many white homeowners moved and 

increased the populations of surrounding county towns such as Derby, Haysville, and Maize. 

Many Wichita restaurants would not serve people of color. They couldnôt shop in many 

stores and couldnôt sit with white people in most theaters. There were no laws about this, as there 

were in some cities. There were only long-standing policies that many businesses had, such as 

drugstores that didnôt serve African American people at their lunch counters until a student-led 
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sit-in, the first of its kind, at the downtown Wichita Dockum Drugstore in 1958, convinced 

business owners to change their policies. 

People of color in Wichita had long been discriminated against in finding places to live 

and in finding jobs. Leaders in the African American community worked to promote fair housing 

and hiring, and in 1964, the year the nation passed the Civil Rights Act, Wichita passed a Fair 

Housing Ordinance aimed at preventing racial discrimination in selling, buying, or renting 

housing. More African American community leaders began to be elected. Dr. Hugh N. Sims was 

the first African American to serve on the school board in 1949. A. Price Woodard became the 

cityôs first African American city commissioner in 1967 and became mayor three years later. Jo 

Brown became the cityôs first African American woman to serve on the school board, in 1971, 

and Wichitan Billy McCray served in the state legislature. But change was coming too slowly 

and too late, and tensions grew. Wichita was one of 75 cities across the country to experience 

racial violence in the summer of 1967. 

Americans in the 1950s had lived through two very hard decades, and most were ready to 

build easier lives for their families. World War II veterans used GI loans to go to college, buy 

houses, and get steady jobs. They had children, and the sheer number of babies born after the war 

earned the generation born between 1945 and 1960 the nickname ñbaby boomers.ò 

The Boomer generation grew up during a time when, more and more, the country began 

to consider what fairness and equality looked like for all of its incredibly varied population, and 

to think about how to include those disregarded or sidelined. 

Baby Boomers were the first generation to be raised with television, which entertained, 

informed, and educated kids while also making them want to buy cereal, soft drinks, and toys. 

This generation grew up with rock and roll, a sound made possible by the electric guitar (first 
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Students at the lunch counter for the 

sit-in protest at Dockum Drug Store. 
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introduced in Wichita). It also grew up amid the riots, political assassinations, military draft, war 

in Southeast Asia, political corruption, and environmental issues of the 1960s and 1970s. 

With more money to spend, families after the war could eat out more, and fast food 

restaurants became popular. In Wichita, two brothers, Frank and Dan Carney, students at Wichita 

State University, borrowed $600 from their mother and opened a pizza restaurant in the building 

next door to their familyôs grocery store in 1958. They named the restaurant ñPizza Hut,ò 

because the sign already on the building had room for only ten letters, and they wanted the word 

ñpizzaò in the name, so ñhutò fit the sign. Pizza Hut went on to become the largest pizza chain 

company in the world. 

Beginning in the 1960s, many Wichita companies including Beech, Cessna, Pizza Hut, 

and Coleman, became large and successful, then were bought by national corporations. The 

companies were renamed, reorganized, and often moved out of town. 
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Vignette for Chapter Seven: The Sit-in at Dockum Drugstore 

 

 

Chester I. ñChetò Lewis was born in Hutchinson, KS in 1928. He served in World War II  and 

got a law degree from the University of Kansas in 1953. He practiced law in Wichita, and in 

1956 became president of the Wichita NAACP. As president, he quietly led the Wichita NAACP 

youth chapter in the Dockum sit-in. 

Lewis was told not to hold the sit-in. Direct action was not approved, the National 

Association for the Advancement of Colored People told him. But throughout the 1950s the 

NAACP and other groups, churches, the YMCA, and individuals had tried and failed to end the 

practice Wichita restaurants and other retail businesses had of not serving African American 

people. ñThatôs the way things are in Wichita,ò a representative of Dockum Drugstore reportedly 

said. The students in Wichitaôs NAACP, on Lewisôs advice, ignored the national group and acted. 

Dockum Drugstore in downtown Wichita in 1958 had the most popular lunch counter and 

soda fountain in town. Shoppers at the drugstore would sit down on a stool at the counter and get 

something to eat and drink. But the lunch counter, like many places in Wichita until that time, 

did not serve African Americans. So a group of local students with a carefully organized plan 

conducted the first successful sit-in in the nation for the right to eat at the lunch counter with 

everyone else. 

The sit-in began late in the afternoon on July 19, 1958, a Thursday when the students 

knew the store was open late and downtown was full  of people. About twenty African American 

students, ages 15-22, walked into the Dockum Drugstore and sat down at the counter. The store 

refused to let them order anything and asked them to leave. The students were courteous, 
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well-dressed, disciplined, and determined to stay in the seats. They were replaced by others, in 

teams, according to schedules they had set up to keep the lunch counter stools occupied. 

For the next three weeks, mainly on Thursdays and Saturdays, the two busiest days in 

downtown, students sat at the Dockum Drugstore lunch counter. The lunch counter wouldnôt 

serve them, but few other people could eat there either, because the seats were taken. The lunch 

counter was losing money. 

Many people in Wichita who didnôt see the sit-in for themselves may not have known 

what was happening. The mainstream local newspapers and most radio stations barely mentioned 

the sit-in. But the African American newspapers, a single local radio station, and the national 

wire services covered the story. 

Finally on Monday, August 11, 1958, Rexall drugstore officials announced that starting at 

10:00 a.m. that day the entire Rexall chain in Kansas would ñserve all people without regard to 

race, creed, or color.ò Sit-ins cost the drugstores too much money. 

The change rippled beyond Wichita. Inspired by the Wichita studentsô victory, NAACP youth 

groups around the country wanted to organize sit-ins, and within a few months the national 

NAACP agreed to let them. By 1960 the NAACP officially encouraged nonviolent action in the 

civil rights struggle. Although other sit-ins were more famous nationally, such as the Woolworth 

sit-ins in Greensboro, NC in 1960, the Dockum sit-in made history as the first student-led 

success. Slowly, over time, the city began to open up to people of color. 

Lewis continued the struggle for civil rights for the rest of his career. He volunteered his 

legal experience to promote racial integration in city departments and schools. He encouraged 
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the NAACP in Wichita to organize for direct action and nonviolent protest. He lobbied for the 

cityôs Fair Housing Ordinance in 1964. He won a victory for civil rights in 1984 when he 

negotiated an $8.4 million settlement for Santa Fe Railroad porters after a fifty-year legal 

struggle for the right to be promoted. Chester Lewis died in 1990. His work for the fair treatment 

of African Americans forever changed the community. 
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Chapter Eight: Redesigning for the Future, 1970-2000 

 

 

 

 

Wichita in the last thirty years of the twentieth century grew far past the forks of the 

Arkansas River. Cattle pastures and wheat fields that immigrants had crossed the ocean to create 

gave way to housing developments, shopping malls, and strip malls. By the beginning of the 

2000s, the city had surrounded Eastborough and pushed out in all directions, bumping up against 

Sedgwick County towns that once catered mainly to farmers: Valley Center, Kechi, Haysville, 

Goddard, Greenwich, Derby, Bel Aire, and Maize. The unbridled development created more 

paved roadway per person than anywhere else. As happened in many cities in America, new 

homes and new shopping centers drew people away from downtown Wichita. Stores that bustled 

in the 1940s became office buildings, or sat empty, or were torn down. 

Many neighborhoods and downtowns all over the country hadnôt been repaired and fixed 

up for years, neglected during the Depression and the war. So the federal government began 

ñurban renewal,ò which in Wichita, focused on downtown. The city commission approved plans 

for a new library and a new convention center and auditorium called Century II, located south of 

Douglas on the Arkansas River. The old Forum convention center and 128 other businesses were 

cleared away. Century II opened up in 1969, just in time for the cityôs 100th birthday in 1970. 

The urban renewal effort also created A. Price Woodard Park and Finlay Ross Park, beside the 

complex on the east side of the river. 

Urban renewal provided money for a new Sedgwick County Courthouse on North Main, 

in what had been the heart of the African American business district. Construction of the new 

courthouse forced businesses to move, and landmarks such as Douglass Elementary and St. Paul 
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A new kind of shopping for 1947: 

the Lincoln Heights Shopping Center 
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African Methodist Episcopal church were torn down. Preservationists saved two historic 

buildings, Calvary Baptist Church on North Water and the Arkansas Valley Lodge No. 21 on 

North Main. 

Construction of an elevated highway through Wichita, Interstate 135/35, cut through the 

middle of another mostly African American neighborhood. Ninety-four African American and 

fourteen white families were force to sell to make way for the project. 

People began to worry that the city could lose many more buildings that should be saved 

and preserved. The city council created a Historic Preservation Board to identify and protect 

older buildings and districts. The Board developed a Historic Preservation Plan and a Wichita 

Register of Historic Places for homes, commercial buildings, schools, churches, and other 

landmarks. 

One such building protected during urban renewal was the original city hall building. 

With plans to build a new city hall, the city agreed to maintain the large limestone structure. The 

Wichita-Sedgwick County Historical Museum, with similar desires to find a space suitable for 

expansion, signed a lease withe the city to take over Old City Hall. The Museum resides there 

still. 

An entire area of run-down brick and stone warehouses downtown survived urban 

renewal, and in the 1990s those boarded-up buildings were remodeled into trendy restaurants, 

shops, apartments, and hotels known as Old Town. The district helped renew downtown and 

served as an example of how historic buildings could be re-used. 

Nationally the final years of the century saw an increased concern with the over-all 

welfare of its citizens. Wichitans acted to expand rights, recognize its diverse population, and 

provide equal opportunity and access for all its citizens. This was in keeping with the idea 

expressed in the last line of the United States Pledge of Allegiance, ñwith liberty and justice for 

all.ò 
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Century II, a civic & convention 

center in downtown Wichita. 
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The city and county worked to provide enriching activities and attractions that all 

Wichitans could enjoy. Following the success of a newly-redesigned Art Museum and the 

creation of the Wichita-Sedgwick County Historical Museum in the old city hall, the Sedgwick 

County Zoo opened in 1971 in a large area west of the city. It became recognized around the 

world for animal conservation, humane treatment of animals, and breeding of endangered 

species. In 1973 the Mid-America All-Indian Center opened on land given to it by the city at the 

confluence of the two rivers, near where the Wichita tribe had once lived. Botanica, The Wichita 

Gardens, opened in 1987 on seventeen acres at the edge of Sim Park in the Riverside 

neighborhood. Botanica aimed to combine natureôs beauty and relaxation with environmental 

and gardening education. With the Art Museum near both the Indian Center and Botanica, the 

area came to be called Museums on the River. Another museum on the river, Exploration Place, a 

science museum for children, opened in 2000 near where the old Ackerman Island had been. The 

Kansas Aviation Museum opened in 1991 in the Art Deco hangar at the old Wichita Municipal 

Airport. The Great Plains Transportation Museum opened downtown in 1986 to explore the 

areaôs railroad history. These places, together with Old Cowtown Museum and the Kansas 

African American Museum, gave the cityôs people a wider sense of the community they share. 

 

This account of local history ends in 2001, the beginning of the 21st century.  

At this writing we are 25 years beyond ï a full generation ï and busy creating the next chapters. 
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Vignette for Chapter Eight: The Keeper of the Plains 

 

Blackbear Bosinôs forty-four-foot tall Keeper of the Plains statue rises high above the point 

where the Big and Little Arkansas rivers join, at Keeper Plaza just south of the All -Indian Center. 

The Keeper is a symbol of Wichitaôs American Indian heritage. Its image was adopted on the 

official seal of Sedgwick County. 

Although many of the original people who lived in the Wichita area were moved to 

reservations, some American Indians were later drawn back to Wichita especially during World 

War II, returning to work in the aircraft plants. 

In 1969 the Mid-American All-Indian Center was established on a triangle of land given by 

the city where the rivers meet. The museum celebrated the tradition, culture, and heritage of 

Americaôs Native people and exhibited the work of important artists like Blackbear Bosin, one of 

the Centerôs founders. 

Francis Blackbear Bosin came from the Kiowa and Commanche tribes. He was named for his 

grandfather, Tsate-Kongia, which means ñBlackbearò. Born in 1921 in Oklahoma, Bosin came to 

Wichita to work for Boeing as an illustrator. Bosin became known internationally for his 

award-winning paintings. Keeper of the Plains is his only sculpture. 

 

The Keeper of the Plains was erected in 1974. Bosin worked with engineers to create models 

for the 44 foot, five ton steel structure. Decades later a thirty-foot pedestal raised the Keeper to a 

height equivalent to a seven-story building. Pedestrian bridges across the rivers were added to 

give easier access to the sculpture. Keeper Plaza was planted with yucca, medicinal herbs and 
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cactus. Illustrated signs explained customs and traditions of the Plains Indians. Each night 

five fire drums in the waters around the Keeper briefly flamed. 

The Keeper stands high above the rivers near where the city began, back arched, arms raised 

ï a symbol of the pride held by those who first lived on this land and the pride of those who 

live here now. 

This account of local history ends 2001, the beginning of the 21st century. As of this writing 

we are 25 years beyond ï a full generation ï and now creating its next chapters. 

 

 

 

 


